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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

FORT WORTH DIVISION

)
)

JUDY HUNTER, on behalf of herself, individually, )
and on behalf of all others similarly situated; as a )
member of the Acme Brick Company 401(k) )
Retirement and Savings Plan )
Investment/Administrative Committee; and as a )
member of the Acme Brick Company Pension )
Plan Retirement/Administrative Committee; )
ANITA GRAY, individually, and on behalf of )
all others similarly situated; and BOBBY LYNN )
ALLEN, individually, and on behalf of all others )
similarly situated, )

)
Plaintiffs, )

)
v. ) CASE NO. 4:14-cv-00663-Y

)
BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY INC., )

)
Defendants. )

 )

AMENDED COMPLAINT
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Plaintiffs Judy Hunter ("Hunter"), participant in and, at the time of the filing of the

Original Complaint herein, a fiduciary of the Acme Brick Company 401(k) Retirement and

Savings Plan (the "401(k) Plan") and the Acme Brick Company Pension Plan (the "Pension

Plan") (collectively, the 401(k) Plan and Pension Plan are referred to as the "Retirement Plans"),

in her capacities as such, on behalf of the Retirement Plans and the other current or former

participants therein, and on behalf of all others similarly situated; Anita Gray ("Gray"),

individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated; and Bobby Lynn Allen ("Allen"),

individually and on behalf of all other similarly situated (collectively, Hunter, Gray and Allen are

referred to herein as the "Plaintiffs"), bring this action against Berkshire Hathaway Inc.

("Berkshire Hathaway" or "Defendant"), and respectfully show the Court as follows:

I. INTRODUCTION

1. This case involves a promise by Defendant Berkshire Hathaway to the employees

of a company it acquired in 2000. Simply put, Berkshire Hathaway promised, as part of the

acquisition, not to make certain changes to the Retirement Plans that would reduce the benefits

thereunder. Since that time, the employees have stuck with the company through good times and

bad, in anticipation that their benefits under the Retirement Plans would ultimately compensate

them fairly. Now, almost fourteen years later, Berkshire Hathaway has broken its promise.

Through its ownership and control of non-party Acme Building Brands, Inc. ("Acme"), which is a

fiduciary of the Retirement Plans , and through strong-arm tactics against Acme's management,

Berkshire Hathaway has instigated changes that cause the 401(k) Plan to be underfunded, and to

completely freeze the accrual of benefits under the Pension Plan. Berkshire Hathaway's agreement

is an amendment to the Retirement Plans, and the employees are entitled under the Employee

Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA") to the enforcement of the

Retirement Plans in accordance with their terms, including Berkshire Hathaway's 2000 promise.

AMENDED COMPLAINT
(
Page 1



Case 4:14-cv-00663-Y Document 50 Filed 10/05/16 Page 3 of 35 PagelD 970

I. PARTIES 

2. Plaintiff Judy Hunter is an individual residing in Aledo, Parker County, Texas. As

of the date of the Original Complaint herein, Ms. Hunter was the Chief Financial Officer of Acme,

and she was also a member of the Acme Brick Company 401(k) Retirement and Savings Plan

Investment/Administrative Committee (the "401(k) Committee") and the Acme Brick Company

Pension Plan Retirement/Administrative Committee (the "Pension Committee"). Ms. Hunter,

individually, is a participant in the Retirement Plans and, she has standing to bring this action

pursuant to ERISA §502(a), 29 U.S.C. §1132(a). As a member of the 401(k) Committee and the

Pension Committee when the Original Complaint was filed, she also has standing as a fiduciary to

bring this action pursuant to ERISA §502(a), 29 U.S.C. §1132(a).

3. Plaintiff Anita Gray is an individual residing in Tarrant County, Texas. Gray is the

Assistant Controller of Acme, is a participant in the Retirement Plans and has standing to bring

this action pursuant to ERISA §502(a), 29 U.S.C. §1132(a).

4. Plaintiff Bobby Lynn Allen is an individual residing in Hood County, Texas. Allen

is a retired former employee of Acme, is a participant in the 401(k) Plan and has standing to bring

this action pursuant to ERISA §502(a), 29 U.S.C. §1132(a).

5. Non-parties the Retirement Plans are employee benefit plans governed by ERISA.

The Retirement Plans are administered in Fort Worth, Texas, and pursuant to ERISA §§ 3(16) and

402(a), 29 U.S.C. §§ 1002(16) and 1102(a), the 401(k) Committee has been appointed the Plan

Administrator of the 401(k) Plan, and the Pension Committee has been appointed the Plan

Administrator of the Pension Plan.

6. Non-party Acme is a corporation that maintains its principal place of business in

Fort Worth, Texas. Acme is the Plan Sponsor of the 401(k) Plan and the Pension Plan in

accordance with ERISA §3(16)(B), 29 U.S.C. §1002(16)(B), and is a named fiduciary under both

Retirement Plans.
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7. Defendant Berkshire Hathaway is a publicly-traded corporation listed on the New

York Stock Exchange. It is organized under the laws of Delaware with its principal place of

business in Omaha, Nebraska, and does business in the State of Texas. Berkshire Hathaway owns

and controls Acme. Berkshire Hathaway duly authorized, approved, and/or ratified the actions of

Warren Buffet and Marc Hamburg as alleged herein as the actions of Berkshire Hathaway, and the

actions of Warren Buffet and Marc Hamburg as alleged herein were taken in their capacities as

authorized agents and representatives of Berkshire Hathaway.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. Berkshire Hathaway has caused events to occur in the Northern District of Texas

that give rise to the claims herein.

9. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this Complaint pursuant to 28

U.S.C. §1331, ERISA §502(e)(1), 29 U.S.C. §1132(e)(1), 28 U.S.C. §1332(a)(1), and 28 U.S.C.

§1367(a).

10. Venue lies in this District pursuant to ERISA §502(e)(2), 29 U.S.C. §1132(e)(2),

and 28 U.S.C. §1391, in that it is the District where the plan is administered, and this is the District

in which all or a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims occurred.

III. FACTS 

A. Creation of the Retirement Plans.

11. Non-party Justin Industries, Inc. ("Justin Industries") and its affiliated companies

have been Fort Worth area institutions since their founding in the late 1800's. Justin Industries

established the 401(k) Plan and the Pension Plan to provide retirement benefits and security for its

employees who complete a period of faithful service. These Retirement Plans covered employees

of Justin Industries and affiliated entities, including Acme Brick Company and Justin Brands..
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12. The 401(k) Plan is a "defmed contribution plan" under ERISA, 29 U.S.C.

§1002(34), and provides, in part, for the employer to match a percentage of an employee's

contributions to the 401(k) Plan on an annual basis, up to 5% of the employee's compensation. As

of the date of the Merger Agreement (defined in Paragraph 15, below), the employer's percentage

match was 50%.

13. The Pension Plan is a "defined benefit pension plan" under ERISA §3(35), 29

U.S.C. §1002(35), is funded in its entirety by the employer, and provides, in part, for employees

to accrue benefits provided by the Pension Plan based on the length of their service.

14. In 2002, Acme became the Plan Sponsor for both Retirement Plans, as well as a

named fiduciary of both Retirement Plans.

B. Berkshire Hathaway Acquires Justin Industries (Which Owned 100% of
Acme's Equity Interests), Agrees to Honor all Terms of the Retirement Plans,
and Agrees Not to Cause a Reduction in the Retirement Plans' Benefits.

15. In 2000, Justin Industries, through duly authorized action of its Board of Directors,

agreed to be acquired by Berkshire Hathaway and entered into those parties' Agreement and Plan

of Merger ("Merger Agreement"). Following the merger transaction, the Pension Plan was

overfunded by approximately 79%, or approximately $60 million. To protect the rights of

participants in the Retirement Plans, the Merger Agreement contained the following provision

amending the terms of the Retirement Plans and other benefit plans:

Section 5.7 Employee Matters

(a) . . . . Parent [Berkshire Hathaway] shall, and shall cause the
Company to, honor in accordance with their terms all employee benefit plans (as
defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) and other employment, consulting, benefit,

compensation or severance agreements, arrangements and policies of the Company
(collectively, the "Company Plans"); provided, however, that Parent or the
Company may amend, modify or terminate any individual Company Plans in
accordance with the terms of such Plans and applicable law (including obtaining
the consent of the other parties to and beneficiaries of such Company Plans to the
extent required thereunder); provided further, that notwithstanding the foregoing
proviso, Parent will not cause the Company to (i) reduce any benefits to employees
pursuant to [the Company Plans] for a period of 12 months following the Effective
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Time, (ii) reduce any benefit accruals to employees pursuant to any such Plans that
are defined benefit pension plans, or (iii) reduce the employer contribution pursuant
to any such Plans that are defined contribution pension plans. . . .

16. These protections were included in the Merger Agreement to secure and protect,

both contractually and under ERISA, participants' future benefits under the Retirement Plans in

light of new ownership, as well as the significantly overfunded financial position of the Pension

Plan. The Merger Agreement, at Section 8.6, recognizes the creation of third-party beneficiaries

of the Merger Agreement under three identified sections of the Merger Agreement, expressly

including Section 5.7 of the Merger Agreement.

17. The limitations on changes to the Retirement Plans set forth in the Merger

Agreement are substantive rights conferred on third-party beneficiaries. All persons who were or

have become participants in either of the Retirement Plans since the date of the Merger Agreement

are third-party beneficiaries of Section 5.7 of the Merger Agreement.

18. The limitations on changes to the Retirement Plans set forth in the Merger

Agreement constitute amendments to the Retirement Plans by action of the Board of Directors, as

authorized by Article XV of the 401(k) Plan and Article XVI of the Pension Plan (or the applicable

section of such Retirement Plans as may then have been in effect).

19. The purpose and intent of Section 5.7 of the Merger Agreement was further

confirmed and stated in the Justin Industries Schedule 14D-9 filed with the Securities Exchange

Commission ("SEC") in connection with its acquisition by Berkshire Hathaway. That certified

public filing acknowledged that the Merger Agreement provided that Berkshire Hathaway:

"...shall, and shall cause the Company to, maintain the Company's benefits plans
and shall not cause the Company to ...(ii) reduce any benefit accruals to employees
pursuant to any such plans that are defined benefit pension plans, or (iii) reduce the
employer contribution pursuant any such plans that are defined contribution
pension plans."

20. The Merger Agreement was negotiated, approved and signed by Warren Buffett as

Chief Executive Officer of Berkshire Hathaway, and negotiated and approved by Marc Hamburg

and another member of the Board of Directors of Berkshire Hathaway. Representatives of
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Berkshire Hathaway traveled to Fort Worth to negotiate the Merger Agreement and consummate

the transaction. Warren Buffett traveled to Fort Worth to further evaluate the

transaction and negotiate terms of the Merger Agreement. Mr. Buffett returned to

Fort Worth, along with other Berkshire representatives, to consummate the

transaction and initiate transition efforts. Following the merger transaction, Berkshire

Hathaway owned and controlled 100% of Justin Industries and all of its subsidiaries, including

Acme. At all times since Berkshire Hathaway acquired Acme, Berkshire Hathaway has had and

exercised the power to appoint Acme's directors, and has had the power to remove Acme's

directors. At all times since Berkshire Hathaway acquired Acme, Warren Buffett and Marc

Hamburg have been the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, respectively, of

Berkshire Hathaway. Further, at all times relevant to this Complaint, Mr. Buffett and Mr. Hamburg

have also comprised the majority of Acme's three-member Board of Directors.

C. Berkshire Hathaway's Efforts to Eliminate or Reduce Employee Benefits in
Violation of the Terms of Acme's Retirement Plans and Section 5.7 of the
Merger Agreement.

21. Section 5.7 of the Merger Agreement requires Acme to make substantial

contributions to the Retirement Plans for the benefit of the participants, which reduces Acme's

value to its shareholder, Berkshire Hathaway. Beginning no later than 2006, Berkshire Hathaway

began proposing to Acme that it reduce its obligations to the participants under the Retirement

Plans.

22. In 2006, Mr. Hamburg, in his capacity as CFO of Berkshire Hathaway, and on

information and belief acting at the request of Mr. Buffett, contacted Acme about imposing a "hard

freeze" on the Pension Plan. Such a "hard freeze" would eliminate any future accruals of benefits

for Pension Plan participants and would preclude participation in the Pension Plan by new

employees. The primary issue in the 2006 discussions between Acme and Berkshire Hathaway

was whether a "hard freeze" was permissible under the language contained in Section 5.7 of the
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Merger Agreement. Acme engaged outside ERISA counsel, and reviewed the legal and regulatory

implications of such an action. Acme advised Berkshire Hathaway that a "hard freeze" was not

appropriate, and would violate Section 5.7 of the Merger Agreement and ERISA. Mr. Hamburg

agreed with that assessment. Mr. Hamburg subsequently stated that Berkshire Hathaway may

decide to consult another ERISA attorney regarding the requirements of Section 5.7. However,

Acme had no further direct communication about changes to either of Acme's Retirement Plans

from Mr. Hamburg or anyone else from Berkshire Hathaway until the summer of 2012.

23. In the summer of 2012, Mr. Hamburg again contacted Acme, again purportedly at

the request of Mr. Buffett, about a "hard freeze" of the Acme Pension Plan. Although Mr.

Hamburg represented to Acme that Berkshire Hathaway had not consulted any ERISA attorney

regarding the proposed "hard freeze" since the parties' communications in 2006, he advised Acme

that Berkshire Hathaway nevertheless wanted to move forward with reducing retirement benefits.

24. In connection with these discussions in late 2012, Acme informed Mr. Hamburg

that it discovered that Acme officers had mistakenly reduced the 401(k) Plan company match from

50% to 25% for 2010 and 2011.1 Acme informed Mr. Hamburg that, after consultation with its

ERISA counsel, Acme concluded that such a reduction was not permitted under Section 5.7 of the

Merger Agreement and in light of Berkshire Hathaway's complete control over Acme. Despite

Acme's position, and without seeking legal advice on behalf of Berkshire Hathaway, Mr.

Hamburg, on behalf of Berkshire Hathaway and in his capacity as a director of Acme, directed

Acme not to make any retroactive corrections to the 401(k) company match for 2010 and 2011.

25. When Acme informed Mr. Hamburg of its intention to return the company match

for employee contributions to 50% for both 2012 and 2013, Mr. Hamburg, on behalf of Berkshire

1. As part of a bargaining agreement, the 401(k) Plan was amended in 2006 to add participation
by a small number of union employees (-30) upon different terms as set forth in the union's
collective bargaining agreement. This bargaining agreement provided a stipulated 25% match. As
a result, with respect to these participants, and as to the 401(k) Plan only, no sums are sought in
this action.

AMENDED COMPLAINT Page 7



Case 4:14-cv-00663-Y Document 50 Filed 10/05/16 Page 9 of 35 PagelD 976

Hathaway and his capacity as a director of Acme, directed Acme not to restore the company match

to 50%.

26. On account of the direction of Berkshire Hathaway, the employee contribution

match has remained at 25% from 2010 through 2013.

27. During the discussions about Berkshire Hathaway's desire to reduce or eliminate

the company's Retirement Plans' benefits, and why those changes would violate the Retirement

Plans and Section 5.7 of the Merger Agreement, Mr. Hamburg stated and further indicated on

several occasions that he agreed with Acme's interpretation of Section 5.7 of the Merger

Agreement, including the fact that Section 5.7 forbade future benefit reductions in the Retirement

Plans for at least all current participants. Despite his agreement on the meaning and impact of

Section 5.7 on multiple occasions, Mr. Hamburg and Berkshire Hathaway continued to insist that

Acme institute a "hard freeze" of the Pension Plan by terminating all future benefit accruals.

28. In the winter of 2012, Mr. Hamburg, on behalf of Berkshire Hathaway and in his

capacity as a director of Acme, requested that Acme, its outside ERISA counsel, and its in-house

counsel once again review the Merger Agreement and applicable authorities in order to confirm

Acme's previous assessment of the legal, regulatory, and ethical prohibitions on implementing a

"hard freeze" of the Pension Plan. After such review and a conference call among Acme's

attorneys, Ms. Hunter and Mr. Hamburg on January 31, 2013, Mr. Hamburg emailed Ms. Hunter

the same day, stating that Mr. Buffett insisted that Acme adopt a "soft freeze" immediately, which

would prevent any new employees from participating in the Pension Plan. Acme adopted a "soft

freeze" effective March 1, 2013.

D. The Committees Have Exclusive and Full Discretionary Authority to Construe
and Interpret Their Respective Plans and Determine Any Amounts Payable
Thereunder.

29. Pursuant to Section 12.1 of the 401(k) Plan, Acme appointed the 401(k) Committee

to be responsible for the administration of the 401(k) Plan. Section 12.1 of the 401(k) Plan further

provides that Acme is a named fiduciary under the 401(k) Plan, that all action taken by the 401(k)
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Committee with respect to the 401(k) Plan is deemed action taken by Acme, and that Acme

assumes fiduciary responsibility for actions taken by the 401(k) Committee in the absence of gross

negligence or willful misconduct.

30. Similarly, pursuant to Section 10.1 of the Pension Plan, Acme appointed the

Pension Committee to be responsible for the administration of the Pension Plan. Section 10.1 of

the Pension Plan further provides that Acme is a named fiduciary under the Pension Plan, that all

action taken by the Pension Committee with respect to the Pension Plan is deemed action taken by

Acme, and that Acme assumes fiduciary responsibility for actions taken by the Pension Committee

in the absence of gross negligence or willful misconduct.

31. Under ERISA, fiduciaries are required to act "solely in the interest of the

participants and beneficiaries" of a plan (ERISA §404(a)(1), 29 U.S.C. §1104(a)(1)), for the

exclusive purpose of providing plan benefits and defraying reasonable expenses of plan

administration (ERISA §404(a)(1)(A), 29 U.S.C. §1104(a)(1)(A)), and in accordance with

documents and instruments governing the plan (ERISA §404(a)(1)(D), 29 U.S.C. §1104(a)(1)(D)).

Thus, any fiduciary of either of the Retirement Plans has a duty to act in accordance with the terms

of that Retirement Plan, to ensure that all contributions and payment of all benefits required by

that Retirement Plan are made as required, and to act to address or prevent a violation of that

Retirement Plan.

32. Section 12.2 of the 401(k) Plan further grants the 401(k) Committee "such powers

as may be necessary to discharge its duties," expressly including the power and duty to "construe

and interpret the Plan" and "determine the amount.. of payment of any benefits hereunder." Under

Section 12.3, the 401(k) Committee is given exclusive authority to determine a participant's

entitlement to payment of benefits under the 401(k) Plan and the "full discretionary authority to

determine all questions arising in the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan."
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Section 12.3 further provides that any decision of the 401(k) Committee in these regards "shall be

fmal and binding on all parties."

33. Section 10.2 of the Pension Plan further grants the Pension Committee "such

powers as may be necessary to discharge its duties," expressly including the power and duty to

"construe and interpret the Plan" and "determine the amount...of payment of any benefits

hereunder." Under Section 10.3, the Pension Committee is also given exclusive authority to

determine a participant's entitlement to payment of benefits under the Pension Plan and the "full

discretionary authority to determine all questions arising in the administration, interpretation and

application of the Plan." Section 10.3 further provides that any decision of the Pension Committee

in these regards "shall be fmal and binding on all parties."

E. The Committees Conduct a Thorough and Diligent Review, and Determine
Berkshire Hathaway's Actions Violate Section 5.7, the Retirement Plans and
ERISA.

34. In January 2014, Berkshire Hathaway again contacted Acme about reducing or

eliminating benefits in the Retirement Plans. Pursuant to their obligations and authority under the

terms of the Retirement Plans and ERISA, the Committees began an extensive, thorough process

to diligently and prudently review the circumstances and issues involved with respect to Acme's

and Berkshire Hathaway's actions and directions with respect to the Merger Agreement, the 401(k)

Plan, the Pension Plan, and ERISA.

35. As to their respective 401(k) Plan and Pension Plan, the Committees analyzed,

construed, and interpreted the terms of the Merger Agreement to which each Retirement Plan and

its participants are third party beneficiaries, the terms of the Retirement Plans (as amended by

Section 5.7 of the Merger Agreement), the application of Acme's and Berkshire Hathaway's

actions to the terms of the Merger Agreement and the Retirement Plans, and voluminous
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documentation related to such actions. Moreover, the 401(k) Committee also analyzed, construed,

and interpreted the participants' entitlement to benefits and the amount of benefits that should be

paid under the 401(k) Plan. The Committees also engaged independent outside ERISA legal

counsel to assist in these efforts. The Committees prudently and diligently undertook these efforts,

and further evaluated potential appropriate responses and possible alternatives that may exist to

Berkshire Hathaway's positions and directives in light of i) Section 5.7 of the Merger Agreement,

ii) the respective Retirement Plans, iii) Berkshire Hathaway's communications, and iv) the

responsibilities of the members of the Committees to act solely in the best interests of the

participants and beneficiaries of the respective Retirement Plans. These issues were also discussed

in the context of the upcoming yearly audit of the 401(k) Plan commencing in June of 2014 and

associated disclosures.

36. The Committees reviewed in detail the facts and circumstances, including those

captured in the written emails and recordings of telephone conversations with Mr. Hamburg of

Berkshire Hathaway, in order to fully understand and appreciate the tone and context of such

communications. The Committees also continued their review of Acme's stated positions, in both

its corporate and fiduciary capacities, and reviewed and discussed the analysis and information

provided by the Committees' independent outside ERISA counsel.

37. The Committees further reviewed and investigated the timeline of the negotiation

of the merger and drafts of the Merger Agreement, the fact that the most substantive revisions to

the original draft of the Merger Agreement were made with respect to Section 5.7, the impact of

those revisions, and how Section 5.7 was described in the transaction's Schedule 14D-9 filed with

the SEC.
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38. The 401(k) Committee specifically analyzed Section 5.7, and in particular, the

phrase "reduce the employer contribution pursuant to any such Plans that are defined contribution

pension plans." The 401(k) Committee considered both the plain meaning of such phrase, as well

as how Acme has historically made the contributions provided for by the 401(k) Plan. With respect

to Section 5.7(iii), the 401(k) Committee concluded that the phrase "the employer contribution

pursuant to any such Plans that are defined contribution pension plans" meant Acme's match of

50% up to 5% of the employee's salary. Based on its review and investigation, the 401(k)

Committee found that the provisions of Section 5.7 of the Merger Agreement were clear and

unambiguous, and were further supported by all materials it examined in addition to the Merger

Agreement.

39. The Pension Committee also specifically analyzed Section 5.7, and in particular,

the phrase "reduce any benefit accruals to employees pursuant to any such Plans that are defined

benefit pension plans." The Pension Committee considered both the plain meaning of such phrase

as well as the revisions to the Merger Agreement prior to its execution, that the Pension Plan was

significantly overfunded at the time of the Merger, and how the term "benefit accruals" has been

defined by the Courts. The Pension Committee found the phrase "benefit accruals" in Section 5.7

meant future accruing benefits and any benefit accruing in the future under the Pension Plan. The

Pension Committee also considered what would occur with respect to benefits under Berkshire

Hathaway's proposed amendments. With respect to Section 5.7(ii), the Pension Committee

determined the phrase "reduce any benefit accruals to employees pursuant to any such Plans that

are defined benefit pension plans" precludes a "hard freeze" 'of the Pension Plan. Based on its

review and investigation, the Pension Committee found that the provisions of Section 5.7 of the
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Merger Agreement were clear and unambiguous, and were further supported by all materials it

examined in addition to the Merger Agreement.

40. In considering the content of Marc Hamburg's statements, on behalf of Berkshire

Hathaway and in his capacity as a director of Acme, with respect to the 401(k) Plan company

match, as well as his tone, his demeanor, the circumstances in which those statements were made,

and the number of times he made such statements, the 401(k) Committee determined his statements

were clearly directives to Acme.

41. In reaching their determinations, the Committees members also discussed and

agreed that based on their experience, when Berkshire Hathaway indicated its position on an issue,

it caused Acme to act in accordance with that position. Based upon the manner in which Berkshire

Hathaway had run Acme since its acquisition, if an employee of Acme acted contrary to a directive

of Marc Hamburg or Warren Buffett, it was understood that there would be adverse consequences,

including possible termination.

42. In light of its extensive detailed analysis and review, the 401(k) Committee

unanimously determined that Berkshire Hathaway caused the reduction in Acme's matching

contribution to the 401(k) Plan from 50% to 25% in 2012 and 2013, and that Berkshire Hathaway

also caused Acme's failure to retroactively increase the match to 50% for 2010 and 2011.

43. The Committees' review also included consideration and acceptance of Acme's

position that all employees of all corporations which are members of a controlled group of

corporations (as in Berkshire Hathaway's and Acme's case) would be treated as employed and

controlled by a single entity or employer. Such treatment protects participants' rights from being

violated by organizational manipulations or undue influence. Based on the Committees'

observations during this disputed matter, the Committees concluded that a parent can likely cause
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a 100%-owned subsidiary to do whatever it wants, either overtly or surreptitiously. The

Committees found this particularly true in light of their knowledge and experience with respect to

Berkshire Hathaway's ownership and control of Acme. The Committees found that both avenues

have been actually demonstrated and attempted by Berkshire Hathaway to reduce benefits in the

Retirement Plans.

44. The 401(k) Committee also reviewed the past and pending requests for benefit

disbursements from the 401(k) Plan and unanimously determined that 401(k) Plan participants

have not been paid all benefits owed to them from the 401(k) Plan for the years 2011-2014. The

401(k) Committee also found that under the 401(k) Plan, all pending and future payments should

include a 50% matching contributions for those years with all earnings thereon.

F. Berkshire Hathaway's Audit Committee Fails to Act or Resolve Issues

Submitted to It.

45. As part of the efforts to address concerns and ethical considerations related to

Berkshire Hathaway's attempts to reduce benefits in violation of the Retirement Plans, Section 5.7

of the Merger Agreement, and ERISA, reports were filed under the Berkshire Hathaway Code of

Business Conduct and Ethics ("Code"). Pursuant to its express terms the Code applies to "Covered

Parties," consisting of all directors, officers, and employees of Berkshire Hathaway and its

subsidiaries.

46. A purpose of the Code is to "emphasize the Company's commitment to ethics and

compliance with the law." The Code also provides that when "[c]onfronted with ethically

ambiguous situations, the Covered Parties should remember the Company's commitment to the

highest ethical standards and seek advice from supervisors, managers or other appropriate

personnel to ensure that all actions they take on behalf of the Company honor this commitment."
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The Code further provides that "Obeying the law, both in letter and in spirit, is the foundation on

which the Company's ethical standards are built."

47. The Code further states, "When in doubt, remember Warren Buffett's rule of

thumb: . . I want employees to ask themselves whether they are willing to have any

contemplated act appear the next day on the front page of their local paper — to be read by their

spouses, children and friends — with the reporting done by an informed and critical reporter.'" The

Code commits that "[njo retaliatory action of any kind will be permitted against anyone making

such a report in good faith, and the Company's Audit. Committee will strictly enforce this

prohibition."

48. In accordance with the Code's policy and instructions, beginning in January, 2014,

several reports were filed over several months requesting guidance and assistance from the

Berkshire Hathaway Audit Committee, including confirmation that any threatened removal of the

Committees' members or any other retaliation would not occur as a result of their good faith

submissions and other actions in furtherance of their fiduciary duties. In response to the first report

filed, a law firm hired by Berkshire Hathaway requested an interview of Ms. Hunter. At the

beginning of that interview, Ms. Hunter told Berkshire Hathaway's counsel that she was

represented by separate ERISA counsel in both her capacity as the CFO of Acme and in her

capacity as a member of the Committees of the Retirement Plans. In addition, Ms. Hunter

reminded Berkshire Hathaway's counsel that she was also a participant in the Retirement Plans.

Ms. Hunter requested that her counsel in both her official capacities participate in her interview.

Berkshire Hathaway's counsel refused to allow Ms. Hunter's counsel to be involved and went

forward with a lengthy interview of her. Berkshire Hathaway's counsel further advised Ms. Hunter

that her interview constituted privileged communications owned by Berkshire Hathaway only, and
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further wrongfully instructed her that she could not share anything discussed in the interview with

the other fiduciaries, counsel for the Retirement Plans' Committees, Acme's ERISA counsel, or

any other person.

49. Thereafter, Berkshire Hathaway's counsel issued a memorandum. Ms. Hunter was

told that she could not share the memorandum with the 401(k) Committee, the Pension Committee,

their legal counsel, or anyone else. However, the memorandum contained numerous material

misstatements and omissions from Ms. Hunter's interview, which material misstatements and

omissions formed the basis for the memorandum's erroneous conclusions. Ms. Hunter notified

the Audit Committee of such misstatements and omissions and provided the Audit Committee

fifteen pages of explanation of the factual inaccuracies as well as a recording of the interview. In

addition, she provided certain corroborating emails as well as written legal analyses provided by

Acme's ERISA counsel and the Retirement Plans' legal counsel to openly and in good faith further

support her concerns about Berkshire Hathaway's intentions and actions to reduce benefits in the

Retirement Plans.

50. The Audit Committee subsequently provided Berkshire Hathaway's legal

memorandum to the Retirement Plans' Committees and their legal counsel, without correcting any

of the errors or omissions noted by Ms. Hunter or referencing her disagreement.

51. Although Ms. Hunter and the Committees have continued to seek guidance and

assistance from the Audit Committee with respect to their pending requests, the Chairman of the

Audit Committee advised on June 5, 2014 that "It's. in the hands of our lawyers, and no decision

has been made." To date, the Committees have received no further response from Berkshire

Hathaway's Audit Committee, and the Audit Committee has wholly failed and refused to respond

in any manner to the Committees' members' repeated requests for confirmation that they would
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not be removed nor face retaliation for the reports they submitted nor for otherwise performing

their fiduciary duties.

G. The 401(k) Committee's Demand for Full Payment of All Amounts Owed to
Participants Under the Plan Is Rejected.

52. After many months of discussion of these issues, being advised that the Audit

Committee has not reached any decision, being advised the matter was in the hands of Berkshire

Hathaway's attorneys, and with pending external audits of the 401(k) Plan and the Pension Plan

commencing, on June 12, 2014, the Committees sent a letter to the Board of Directors of Acme in

which the 401(k) Committee demanded that Acme immediately retroactively restore to 50% the

matching contributions for 2010-2013, and make an additional contribution in the amount of the

earnings lost due to the contribution not having been timely made. That correspondence further

advised that if Acme did not make such payments, litigation against Acme and/or Berkshire

Hathaway over such sums was likely, either by, or on behalf of, a participant and/or the 401(k)

Plan.

53. In its letter, the 401(k) Committee requested that Acme provide full payment of the

amounts due and owing to the participants' accounts in the 401(k) Plan by June 27, 2014 or provide

an explanation as to why such payment was not being made.

54. Berkshire Hathaway responded to the Committees' letter by summoning Dennis

Knautz, the President and CEO of Acme, to Omaha, Nebraska for a meeting with Warren Buffett.

The meeting took place on June 25, 2014 among Mr. Knautz, Mr. Buffett, and Marc Hamburg.

During the approximately hour and a half meeting, they discussed the Committees' letter as well

as an additional request by the Committees for a mediation among the Committees for both

Retirement Plans, Acme, and Berkshire Hathaway. Mr. Knautz was given specific instructions

AMENDED COMPLAINT Page 17



Case 4:14-cv-00663-Y Document 50 Filed 10/05/16 Page 19 of 35 PagelD 986

with respect to delivering Berkshire Hathaway's response to the Committee's letter and its request

for mediation.

55. Mr. Knautz presented Berkshire Hathaway's response during the Committees' June

30, 2014 Joint Meeting. He reported that Mr. Buffett stated that Berkshire Hathaway was not

interested in the Committees' offer of mediation, and then presented the Committees with an

ultimatum of accepting one of two written alternatives from Berkshire Hathaway. The alternatives

were 1) agree to a "hard freeze" of the Pension Plan now and concurrently move the 401(k)

employer matching percentage to 50%, subject to modification of the amount of the 401(k)

employer matching percentage any time after 2014, or 2) agree to a "hard freeze" of the Pension

Plan to be effective five (5) years from now, with the 401(k) employer matching percentage to

remain at 25%. Mr. Knautz reported that these alternatives were nonnegotiable, and that if neither

of the alternatives were accepted by the Committees, then Berkshire Hathaway intended to divest

itself of Acme as a subsidiary.

56. Berkshire Hathaway's ultimatum intentionally placed the Committees in an

impossible situation. It required the Committees to breach their fiduciary duties with respect to

the amendment of the Retirement Plans by Section 5.7 of the Merger Agreement; and, by requiring

them to choose one alternative, to place the interests of participants in one plan ahead of those in

another plan. It further, through the threat of divestment, placed the jobs of the Committee and

Acme's management at risk if they refused to breach their fiduciary duties.

57. During Acme's senior management meeting on July 15, 2014, Acme discussed

Berkshire Hathaway's ultimatum to the Committees. Acme's senior management discussed that

the Committees did not have the authority or ability to amend the Retirement Plans as

contemplated by Berkshire Hathaway's alternatives, as that power resides with Acme. Acme's
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senior management was very concerned about the negative consequences of Berkshire Hathaway

divesting itself of its interest in Acme. As a result, due to Berkshire Hathaway's ultimatum, Acme's

senior management voted that, subject to Berkshire Hathaway agreeing not to divest itself of

Acme, Acme was amending the Plan per Berkshire Hathaway's alternative #1 — an immediate

"hard freeze" of the Pension Plan and a 50% matching contribution for the 401(k) Plan. Acme

amended the Pension Plan solely due to Berkshire Hathaway's threat of divestment.

58. After Berkshire Hathaway caused Acme to refuse to remedy the past reduction of

the employer match in the 401(k) Plan and to institute a "hard freeze" of the Pension Plan, the

Retirement Committees again voted on whether to initiate legal proceedings to enforce the Plans.

Notwithstanding its prior determination that the failure to make the full employer match was a

breach of the 401(K) Plan, the 401(k) Committee, which at the time consisted of only two

members, did not vote either for or against instituting suit, but rather refused to act. Ms. Hunter

voted in favor of instituting suit, and the other member of the 401(K) Committee abstained,

preventing the Committee from taking any action. Notwithstanding its prior determination that

instituting a "hard freeze" would be a breach of the Pension Plan, the Pension Committee also did

not vote for or against instituting suit, but rather refused to act. Ms. Hunter voted in favor of

instituting suit; one member voted against instituting suit; and a third member abstained. In the

absence of two affirmative votes either for or against instituting suit, the Pension Committee was

unable to take action. In all of this, the Retirement Committees' failures to act were the direct result

of the pressure Berkshire Hathaway had applied by threatening to divest itself of Acme. The

amendment of the Pension Plan was signed on August 11, 2014. This amendment of the Pension

Plan to implement an immediate "hard freeze" was caused by Berkshire Hathaway and directly

violates the terms of the Pension Plan, ERISA, and Section 5.7 of the Merger Agreement.
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IV. CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

59. Plaintiffs Hunter, in her individual capacity, Gray, and Allen (as to the 401(k) Plan)

bring this action as a class action pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on

behalf of themselves and the following two classes of persons similarly situated:

a. All participants or beneficiaries of the Acme Brick Company 401(k) Retirement

and Savings Plan (the "401(k) Class").

b. All participants or beneficiaries of the Acme Brick Company Pension Plan (the

"Pension Plan Class").

A. Numerosity.

60. The exact number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiffs at this time, but may

be readily determined from records maintained by Acme. As of August, 2014, Acme or its

affiliated companies employed approximately 2,242 individuals. Upon information and belief,

approximately 1,558 of these individuals are participants in the Pension Plan, and 1,010 of these

individuals are participants in the 401(k) Plan. Many if not all of those persons are likely members

of the 401(k) Class or the Pension Plan Class, or like Plaintiffs Hunter and Gray are members of

both Classes, and thus both Classes are so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable.

B. Commonality.

61. The issues in this case present common questions of law and fact, with answers that

are common to all members of the Class, including (1) whether the Retirement Plans were

amended by the Merger Agreement to prohibit the reduction of contributions and "hard freeze" of

accrual of benefits that have been imposed by Acme and (2), whether the actions of Berkshire

Hathaway violate ERISA, and (3) alternatively, whether Berkshire Hathaway has liability for
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breach of obligations to the members of the Classes as third-party beneficiaries of the Merger

Agreement.

62. The issues regarding the relief are also common to the members of the Classes as

the relief will consist of (1) a declaration that the Plans were amended by the Merger Agreement

and (2) an order requiring that the Plans, as modified by the Merger Agreement, be amended,

administered and funded consistent with ERISA.

C. Typicality.

63. The claims of Plaintiffs Gray and Allen are typical of the claims of other members

of the Classes because they arise from the same event, practice and/or course of conduct, namely

Berkshire Hathaway's causing Acme to reduce benefits in the 401(k) plan and freeze benefit

accruals in the Pension Plan, contrary to the terms of the Merger Agreement. While Plaintiff

Hunter is in a management position and is a Plan fiduciary, her claims are in large part typical of

the claims of the other members of the Classes because they arise from the same event, practice

and/or course of conduct. All Plaintiffs' claims are also typical because all members in each Class

are similarly affected by Berkshire Hathaway's wrongful conduct.

64. Plaintiffs' claims are also typical of the claims of the other members of the Classes

because, to the extent Plaintiffs seek equitable relief, it will affect all Class members equally.

Specifically, the equitable relief sought consists primarily of a declaration that Section 5.7 of the

Merger Agreement is an amendment to the Retirement Plans and the Plans must comply therewith.

To the extent Plaintiffs seek other appropriate equitable relief, it will be calculated using the

same formula for all members of the 401(k) Class, and the same formula for all members of the

Pension Plan Class.
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65. Berkshire Hathaway does not have any defenses unique to Plaintiffs' claims that

would make Plaintiffs' claims atypical of the remainder of the Classes.

D. Adequacy.

66. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of all

members of the Classes.

67. Plaintiffs do not have any interests antagonistic to or in conflict with the interests

of the Classes.

68. Berkshire Hathaway has no unique defenses against the Plaintiffs that would

interfere with Plaintiffs' representation of the Classes.

69. Plaintiffs have engaged counsel with extensive experience prosecuting class actions

in general and ERISA class actions in particular.

E. Rule 23(b)(1) Requirements.

70. The requirements of Rule 23(b)(1)(A) are satisfied because prosecution of separate

actions by the members of the Classes would create a risk of establishing incompatible standards

of conduct for Berkshire Hathaway.

71. The requirements of Rule 23(b)(1)(B) are satisfied because adjudications of these

claims by individual members of the Classes would, as a practical matter, be dispositive of the

interests of the other members not parties to the actions, or substantially impair or

impede the ability of other members of the Classes to protect their interests.

F. Rule 23(b)(2) Requirements.

72. Class action status is also warranted under Rule 23(b)(2) because Berkshire

Hathaway has acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the Classes, thereby
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making appropriate final injunctive, declaratory, or other appropriate equitable relief with respect

to both Classes as a whole.

G. Rule 23(b)(3) Requirements.

73. If the Classes are not certified under Rule 23(b)(1) or (b)(2), then certification under

(b)(3) is appropriate because questions of law or fact common to members of each Class

predominate over any questions affecting only individual members. The common issues of law or

fact that predominate over any questions affecting only individual members include: (1) whether

the Plans were amended by the Merger Agreement; and (2) whether the Plans, as modified by the

Merger Agreement, are being amended, administered and funded consistent with ERISA. A class

action is superior to the other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this

controversy because:

A. Individual Class members do not have an interest in controlling the

prosecution of these claims in individual actions rather than a class action because the

equitable relief sought by any Class member will either inure to the benefit of the Plan or

affect each Class member equally;

B. Individual Class members also do not have an interest in controlling the

prosecution of these claims becaust the equitable reliefthat they could seek in any

individual action is identical to the relief that is being sought on their behalf herein;

C. There is no other litigation begun by any other Class members

concerning the issues raised in this litigation;

D. This litigation is properly concentrated in this forum, which is where

Plaintiffs reside, and where Acme was wrongfully caused to take actions by Berkshire

Hathaway in violation of the Retirement Plans.
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E. There are no difficulties managing this case as a class action.

V. CAUSES OF ACTION

COUNT I

Declaratory Judgment that Section 5.7 of the Merger Agreement
Amends the Retirement Plans

74. Plaintiffs reallege and here incorporate by this reference all of the foregoing

allegations.

75. Under 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(3), participants and fiduciaries of a Plan are entitled to

bring suit to: (A) enjoin any act or practice that violates ERISA; (B) obtain other appropriate

equitable relief (i) to redress violations or (ii) enforce the provisions of ERISA or the terms of a

Plan.

76. Pursuant to this statute and Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 57, Plaintiffs seek

declaratory relief that the terms of the Retirement Plans were amended at the Effective Time of

the Merger Agreement (as defined at §1.5 of the Merger Agreement (the "Effective Time")) to

include restrictions on changes to the Retirement Plans as set forth in Section 5.7 of the Merger

Agreement, and for an order reforming the Retirement Plans to include those restrictions.

Plaintiffs further seek declaratory relief that the purported amendment dated August 11, 2014,

violates the Retirement Plans, as amended by the Merger Agreement.

77. An actual and justiciable controversy exists between Plaintiffs and Defendant over

whether Section 5.7 of the Merger Agreement constitutes an amendment to the Retirement Plans

that is enforceable under ERISA.

78. Plaintiffs should be granted the following relief:

(A) A declaration that the 401(k) Plan was amended by the addition of the following

restrictions:
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Parent [Berkshire Hathaway] will not cause the Company to reduce any
benefits to employees pursuant to the 401(k) Plan for a period of 12 months
following the Effective Time, and will not reduce the employer contribution
pursuant to the 401(k) Plan.

(B) A declaration that the Pension Plan was amended by the addition of the following
restrictions:

Parent [Berkshire Hathaway] shall will not cause the Company to reduce any
benefits to employees pursuant to the Pension Plan for a period of 12 months
following the Effective Time, and will not reduce any benefit accruals to
employees pursuant to any such Plans that are defined benefit pension plans;

(C) A declaration that the Amendment to the Plan dated August 11, 2014, purporting

to freeze the accrual of rights under the Pension Plan, violates the terms of the Pension Plan and

ERISA; and,

(D) Such other and further relief to which Plaintiffs may be entitled.

COUNT II
[Paragraphs 79-82 Dismissed by Fifth Circuit Opinion]

COUNT III
[Paragraphs 83-86 Dismissed by Fifth Circuit Opinion]

COUNT IV

To Enforce, and Obtain Relief for Violations of, the Terms of the Retirement Plans and
ERISA, Other Injunctive and Equitable Relief Pursuant to ERISA

87. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference herein all of the foregoing

allegations.

88. [Dismissed by Fifth Circuit Opinion]

89. The 401(k) Plan requires that Acme make annual matching employer contributions

to the 401(k) Plan in the amount of 50% of each employee's contribution up to 5% of the

employee's salary. For the years 2010, 2011, 2012, and 2013, Acme, at the insistence of Berkshire

Hathaway, has failed and refused to do so. The 401(k) Plan and its participants also have further
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been depiived of the highest returns that would have been received on the full amount of such

contributions since the time they should have been made.

90. As a result, any Acme employees eligible for a matching contribution that have

received to date any distribution from the 401(k) Plan for the years 2010 through 2013 have not

received all the benefits they are entitled to and due under the terms of the 401(k) Plan, in violation

of the terms of the 401(k) Plan and ERISA. Similarly, any Acme employees that in the future

receive any distribution from the 401(k) Plan for the years 2010 through 2013 will not receive all

the benefits to which they are entitled and that are due under the terms of the 401(k) Plan, in

violation of the terms of the 401(k) Plan and ERISA.

91. On August 11, 2014, Acme, at the insistence of Berkshire Hathaway, adopted an

amendment to the Pension Plan to institute an immediate "hard freeze" of any further benefit

accruals. Acme's actions were caused by Berkshire Hathaway and violate the terms of the Pension

Plan as well as the Merger Agreement.

92. Each and all of the acts and omissions of Acme caused by Berkshire constitute

violations of the Retirement Plans and ERISA, including: the failure and refusal to make all

contributions required to the 401(k) Plan; the purported amendment of the Pension Plan to institute

a "hard freeze;" the failure and refusal to follow all requirements and obligations of the Retirement

Plans; and the failure and refusal to pay all 401(k) benefits due under the terms of 401(k) Plan. .

93. Plaintiffs further seek to enforce the 401(k) Plan's terms and require Berkshire

Hathaway to cause Acme to make employer contributions to the 401(k) Plan in the amount of

50% of each employee's contribution for years 2010, 2011, 2012, and 2013, up to 5% of the

employee's salary, together with highest return accorded by the 401(k) Plan's assets since such

contributions should have been made.
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94. Plaintiffs further seek issuance from the Court of an injunction prohibiting

Berkshire Hathaway from continued, and any future, breach of the terms of the Retirement Plans,

including causing Acme's failure to make employer contributions in at least the amount of 50% of

any employee's contributions up to 5% of the employee's salary, and any additional attempts by

Berkshire Hathaway to cause Acme to institute a "hard freeze" of the Pension Plan.

95. Due to Berkshire Hathaway's misconduct and threats, Plaintiffs and the Retirement

Plans are further entitled to an injunction against Berkshire Hathaway barring it from causing

Acme's removal of, or other retaliation against, any fiduciaries of the Retirement Plans, expressly

including the members of the Committees, on account of any action taken in any manner in

connection with their performance of their fiduciary duties and protection of the rights of

participants, including all actions described herein.

96. Plaintiffs further request that the Court accord Plaintiffs all other appropriate

equitable relief to enforce and remedy Berkshire Hathaway's violation of the provisions of the

Retirement Plans and ERISA.

COUNT V

Declaratory Judgment and Injunctive Relief under 29 U.S.C. §1132(a)(3)

97. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference herein all of the foregoing

allegations.

98. [Dismissed by Fifth Circuit Opinion]

99. Plaintiffs seek a declaratory judgment decreeing the rights, duties and obligations

of the parties under the 401(k) Plan and the Pension Plan. An actual and justiciable controversy

exists between Plaintiffs and the Berkshire Hathaway as to these disputes and Defendant's liability

therein, including: as to the terms of Section 5.7 of the Merger Agreement, and whether Berkshire
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Hathaway's actions caused the reduction in Acme's matching contribution to the 401(k) Plan from

50% to 25% for 2012 and 2013, whether Berkshire Hathaway caused Acme not to retroactively

increase the match to 50% for 2010 and 2011, and whether Berkshire Hathaway's actions caused

Acme to reduce benefit accruals to employees pursuant to the Pension Plan. Entry of a declaratory

judgment is necessary, appropriate, and effective to resolve these controversies.

100. Plaintiffs further request that the Court declare that the Pension Plan, as amended

by Section 5.7 of the Merger Agreement, forbids Berkshire Hathaway from causing Acme to

impose a "hard freeze" of the Pension Plan, and that it further declare that Acme's amendment of

the Pension Plan on the instruction of Berkshire Hathaway to institute a 'hard freeze" was improper

as a matter of law. Plaintiffs further request that the Court declare that Berkshire Hathaway

improperly caused the amendment by Acme of the Pension Plan to institute the "hard freeze" in

violation of Section 5.7 of the Merger Agreement, the terms of the Pension Plan, and ERISA.

Plaintiffs further seek an order enjoining Berkshire Hathaway from causing Acme to reduce any

benefits or benefit accruals to employees pursuant to the Pension Plan.

101. Plaintiffs request that the Court declare the 401(k) Plan, as amended by the phrase

in Section 5.7 of the Merger Agreement "the employer contribution pursuant to any such Plans

that are defined contribution pension plans" means Acme's contribution to the 401(k) Plan in the

amount of 50% of each employee's contribution up to 5% of the employee's salary. Plaintiffs

further request that the Court declare that under the facts and circumstances, Berkshire Hathaway

caused Acme to improperly reduce Acme's 401(k) Plan match from 50% to 25% in 2012 and 2013,

and is required by the terms of the 401(k) Plan to retroactively restore the 401(k) match to 50%

for 2010 and 2011. Plaintiffs further request that the Court declare that Berkshire Hathaway caused

and knowingly participated in Acme's improper reduction in Acme's matching contribution to the
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401(k) Plan from 50% to 25%, and Berkshire Hathaway also caused and knowingly participated

in Acme's intentional failure to retroactively increase the match to 50% for 2010 and 2011, all in

violation of Section 5.7 of the Merger Agreement, the terms of the 401(k) Plan, and ERISA.

Plaintiffs further seek an order enjoining Berkshire Hathaway from causing Acme to reduce any

employer contribution to the 401(k) Plan.

COUNT VI
[Paragraphs 102-111 Dismissed by Fifth Circuit Opinion]

COUNT VII
[Paragraphs 112-15 Dismissed by Fifth Circuit Opinion]

COUNT VIII

Attorneys' Fees, Expenses and Costs

116. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference herein all of the foregoing

allegations.

117. Pursuant the common fund doctrine, ERISA section 502(g), 29 U.S.C. §1132(g),

and/or other applicable law, Plaintiffs are entitled to their reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses

from Defendant.

118. Pursuant to the common fund doctrine, ERISA section 502(g), 29 U.S.C. §1132(g),

28 U.S.C. §1920, and/or other applicable law, Plaintiffs are entitled to recover taxable costs from

Defendant.

119. Pursuant to Texas law, Plaintiffs are also entitled to recover their reasonable

attorneys' fees and costs from Defendant Berkshire Hathaway with respect to its breaches of the

Merger Agreement.

120. Plaintiffs have been required to retain the undersigned counsel to represent them in

this lawsuit and will incur reasonable and necessary attorneys' fees, expenses, and taxable costs in

AMENDED COMPLAINT Page 29



Case 4:14-cv-00663-Y Document 50 Filed 10/05/16 Page 31 of 35 PagelD 998

this lawsuit. Thus, Plaintiffs seek recovery from Defendant of all reasonable attorneys' fees,

expenses, and taxable costs incurred by Plaintiffs.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court:

(A) Enter judgment against Berkshire Hathaway on Count I of the Complaint:

(1) Declaring that the 401(k) Plan was amended by Section 5.7 of the Merger

Agreement to provide, inter alia, that Berkshire Hathaway will not cause Acme to

reduce the employer's contribution pursuant to the 401(k) Plan

(2) Declaring that the Pension Plan was amended by Section 5.7 of the Merger

Agreement to provide, inter alia, that Berkshire Hathaway will not cause Acme to

reduce any benefit accruals to employees pursuant to the Pension Plan;

(3) Declaring that Berkshire Hathaway caused Acme to adopt the Amendment

to the Plan dated August 11, 2014, purporting to freeze the accrual of rights under

the Pension Plan, and Berkshire Hathaway's action violated the terms of the

Pension Plan and ERISA;

(B) Enter judgment against Berkshire Hathaway on Count IV of the Complaint:

(1) Determining that each and all of the acts and omissions of Acme caused

by Berkshire Hathaway alleged herein constitute violations of the Retirement

Plans and ERISA, including: the failure and refusal to make all contributions

required to the 401(k) Plan; the purported amendment of the Pension Plan to

institute a "hard freeze;" the failure and refusal to follow all requirements and

obligations of the Retirement Plans; and the failure and refusal to pay all 401(k)

benefits due under the terms of 401(k) Plan;

AMENDED COMPLAINT Page 30



Case 4:14-cv-00663-Y Document 50 Filed 10/05/16 Page 32 of 35 PagelD 999

(2) Requiring Berkshire Hathaway to cause Acme to make employer

contributions to the 401(k) Plan in the amount of 50% of each employee's

contribution for years 2010, 2011, 2012, and 2013, up to 5% of the employee's

salary, together with highest return accorded by the 401(k) Plan's assets since

such contributions should have been made;

(3) Requiring Berkshire Hathaway to cause Acme to rescind the amendment

to the Pension Plan dated August 11, 2014;

(4) Requiring Berkshire Hathaway to cause Acme to reinstate and fund all

unpaid and/or unaccrued benefits under the Retirement Plans as alleged herein;

(5) To the extent, if any, Berkshire Hathaway is unable to cause Acme to do

so, requiring Berkshire Hathaway to disgorge and fund all unpaid and/or

unaccrued benefits under the Retirement Plan as alleged herein;

(6) Enjoining Berkshire Hathaway from continued, and any future, breach of

the terms of the Retirement Plans, including causing Acme to fail to make

employer contributions in at least the amount of 50% of any employee's

contributions up to 5% of the employee's salary, and any additional attempts by

Berkshire Hathaway to cause Acme to institute a "hard freeze" of the Pension

Plan;

(7) Enjoining Berkshire Hathaway from causing Acme to remove, or

otherwise retaliate against, any fiduciaries of the Retirement Plans, expressly

including the members of the Committees, on account of any action taken in any

manner in connection with their performance of their fiduciary duties and

protection of the rights of participants, including all actions described herein;

(C) Enter judgment against Berkshire Hathaway on Count V of the Complaint:

AMENDED COMPLAINT Page 31



Case 4:14-cv-00663-Y Document 50 Filed 10/05/16 Page 33 of 35 PagelD 1000

(1) Declaring that the Pension Plan, as amended by Section 5.7 of the Merger

Agreement, forbids Berkshire Hathaway from causing Acme to impose a "hard

freeze" of the Pension Plan;

(2) Determining that Acme's amendment of the Pension Plan to institute a

`hard freeze" was caused by Berkshire Hathaway and was improper as a matter of

law;

(3) Determining that Berkshire Hathaway knowingly participated in and

improperly caused the amendment by Acme of the Pension Plan to institute the

"hard freeze" in violation of Section 5.7 of the Merger Agreement, the terms of

the Pension Plan, and ERISA;

(4) Enjoining Berkshire Hathaway from causing Acme to reduce any benefits

or benefit accruals to employees pursuant to the Pension Plan;

(5) Declaring that the 401(k) Plan, as amended by the phrase in Section 5.7 of

the Merger Agreement "the employer contribution pursuant to any such Plans

that are defined contribution pension plans" means Acme's contribution to the

401(k) Plan in the amount of 50% of each employee's contribution up to 5% of

the employee's salary;

(6) Determining that Berkshire Hathaway caused Acme to reduce Acme's

401(k) Plan match from 50% to 25% in 2012 and 2013, and is required by the

terms of the 401(k) Plan to cause Acme to retroactively restore the 401(k) match

to 50% for 2010 and 2011;

(7) Determining that Berkshire Hathaway caused Acme's improper reduction

in Acme's matching contribution to the 401(k) Plan from 50% to 25%, and

Berkshire Hathaway also caused Acme's intentional failure to retroactively

increase the match to 50% for 2010 and 2011, all in violation of Section 5.7 of the

Merger Agreement, the terms of the 401(k) Plan, and ERISA;
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(8) Enjoining Berkshire Hathaway from causing Acme to reduce any

employer contribution to the 401(k) Plan;

(D) Enter judgment against Berkshire Hathaway on Count VIII of the Complaint

awarding Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys' fees, expenses, and taxable costs incurred on

account of this lawsuit;

(E) Enter judgment against Berkshire Hathaway awarding Plaintiffs pre judgment

interest on any amounts awarded pursuant to law; and

(F) Enter judgment awarding, declaring, or otherwise providing Plaintiffs and the

Class all relief under ERISA §502(a), 29 U.S.C. §1123(a), or any other applicable law, that the

Court deems proper.

DATED: October 5, 2016

Respectfully submitted,

Is! Christopher Graver 
Gary A. Gotto, Arizona Bar No. 007401
(pro hac vice )
Christopher Graver, Arizona Bar No. 013235
(pro hac vice)
KELLER ROHRBACK L.L.P.
3101 North Central Avenue, Suite 1400
Phoenix, Arizona 85012
Tel: (602) 248-0088
Fax: (602) 248-2822
ggotto@kellerrohrback.com 
cgraver@kellerrohrback.com 

Mark C. Hill, SBN 09647400
Offices of Mark C. Hill
6300 Ridglea Place, Suite 620
Fort Worth, Texas 76116
Tel: (817) 887-9013
Fax: (817) 945-9940
mark@markchill.net

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that on October 5, 2016, all counsel of record were served with a copy of the

foregoing document via the Court's ECF system pursuant to Local Rule 5.1(d).

/s/ Christopher Graver 
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